Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

1-7-2021

### State v. Briggs Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48210

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Cody Briggs was on probation when he admitted to violating his probation by consuming alcohol. Based on his admissions, the district court revoked Mr. Briggs’s probation and executed a unified sentence of seven years, with two years determinate. Mr. Briggs now appeals. He argues the district court abused its discretion when it revoked his probation.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

In September 2015, Mr. Briggs was charged with possession of a controlled substance. (R., p.12.) Pursuant to a plea deal, Mr. Briggs pleaded guilty to the charge and was sentenced to seven years, with two years determinate. (R., pp.35, 39-40.) The district court retained

jurisdiction. (R., pp.39-40.) In September 2016, after Mr. Briggs successfully completed the rider program, the district court suspended Mr. Briggs's sentence and placed him on probation for seven years. (R., pp.43-44.) Two and one-half years later, Mr. Briggs admitted to a probation violation and the district court revoked and reinstated his probation. (R., p.104.) A year after that, the State alleged Mr. Briggs violated his probation, in part, by consuming alcohol on three occasions. (R., pp.122-23.) Mr. Briggs admitted to consuming alcohol and the remainder of the alleged violations were dismissed. (Tr., p.7, Ls.12-15.) Following his admissions, the district court revoked Mr. Briggs's probation and executed his underlying sentence of seven years, with two years determinate. (Tr., p.26, Ls.11-14.) Mr. Briggs timely filed a notice of appeal from the order revoking his probation.<sup>1</sup> (R., pp.145-46; Aug., p.1.)

### ISSUE

Whether the district court abused its discretion when it revoked Mr. Briggs's probation and executed his underlying sentence.

### ARGUMENT

#### The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Revoked Mr. Briggs's Probation And Executed His Underlying Sentence

The district court abused its discretion when it revoked Briggs's probation because probation was achieving its rehabilitative objective. The district court is empowered by statute to revoke a defendant's probation under certain circumstances. I.C. §§ 19-2602, -2603, 20-222. The district court uses a two-step analysis to determine whether to revoke probation. *State v. Sanchez*, 149 Idaho 102, 105 (2009). First, the district court determines "whether the defendant violated the terms of his probation." *Id.* Second, "[i]f it is determined that the defendant has in fact

---

<sup>1</sup> A Motion to Augment the Record with the Notice of Appeal has been filed contemporaneously with Appellant's Brief.

violated the terms of his probation,” the district court examines “what should be the consequences of that violation.” *Id.* The finding of a probation violation and the determination of the consequences, if any, are separate analyses. *Id.*

Here, Mr. Briggs admitted to violating his probation. (R., p.143.) Once a probation violation has been found, the district court must determine whether it is of such seriousness as to warrant revoking probation. *State v. Chavez*, 134 Idaho 308, 312 (Ct. App. 2000). If a knowing and intentional probation violation has been proven, a district court’s decision to revoke probation will be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. I.C. § 20-222; I.C.R. 33(f); *State v. Leach*, 135 Idaho 525, 529 (Ct. App. 2001). In reviewing a district court’s discretionary decision, appellate courts determine whether the district court: “(1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion; (3) acted consistently with legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (4) reached its decision by an exercise of reason.” *State v. Bodenbach*, 165 Idaho 577, 591 (2019) (citation omitted).

“The purpose of probation is to give the defendant an opportunity to be rehabilitated under proper control and supervision.” *State v. Mummert*, 98 Idaho 452, 454 (1977). The district court must decide whether probation is achieving the goal of rehabilitation and whether probation is consistent with the protection of society. *State v. Leach*, 135 Idaho 525, 529 (Ct. App. 2001). In determining whether to revoke probation the court may consider the defendant’s conduct before and during probation. *State v. Roy*, 113 Idaho 388, 392 (Ct. App. 1987).

In this case, Mr. Briggs asserts the district court failed to exercise reason, and therefore abused its discretion, by revoking his probation because his probation was achieving its

rehabilitative objective. Even though Mr. Briggs had a turbulent time during the end of 2019 and throughout 2020, he has made significant progress since being placed on probation.

Mr. Briggs successfully completed a rider program, developing many skills to be successful in the community. (PSI, p.108.) For over two and one-half years, Mr. Briggs had very positive performance on probation. (*See, e.g.*, R., pp.76-83, 85-93.) He had steady employment. (R., p.133; Tr., p.21, Ls.10-11.) He was in good contact with his probation officer. (*See* pp.76-93) He was attending AA meetings. (R., p.7.) He was working on getting off parole for an earlier, unrelated offense. (R., p.90.) In fact, the only mishap during these first years of his probation was when, after requesting 48 hours-notice for an appointment, his probation officer only provided 22 hours and Mr. Briggs was unable to attend the meeting due to work. (R., pp.81-82.) Mr. Briggs's Level of Service Inventory ("LSI") score dropped from 21 to 15. (R., p.90.) In addition, Mr. Briggs was offered a promotion at work, however, he needed to be able to drive in order to get the promotion. (R., p.90.) He requested his probation officer fill out paperwork for him to get his driver's license restriction modified, (R., p.90), yet nothing happened for over a month. (R., pp.90-92.) Mr. Briggs became frustrated, and like many with substance abuse issues, relapsed. (R., p.112.) When in treatment, Mr. Briggs was successful. (R., p.133.)

Mr. Briggs took responsibility and showed remorse for the admitted violations. (R., p.120; 6/5/20 Tr., p.15, Ls.2-7, p.16, L.24 – p.17, L.6.) "In reviewing the propriety of a probation revocation, the focus of the inquiry is the conduct underlying the trial court's decision to revoke probation." *State v. Morgan*, 153 Idaho 618, 621 (Ct. App. 2012). Mr. Briggs does significantly well on probation, however, because of his issues with substance abuse he has had his share of struggles (PSI, p.9), this year in particular. His substance abuse "got its hooks into him" and he just could not stop drinking. (Tr., p.20, Ls.16-17.) Amidst his relapse, the COVID-

19 pandemic struck, and he began struggling with his mental health. (Tr., p.20, Ls.24-25.) While not an excuse, his relapse explains his probation violation. His probation violations were caused by his substance abuse problem and *not* new crimes. (Tr., p.21, L.14.) Between his probation violations, which were a year apart, he had employment (Tr., p.21, Ls.10-11), housing, and he was compliant for a lengthy period of time. (Tr., p.21, Ls.12-13.)

In addition to having substance abuse issues, Mr. Briggs suffers from mental health issues (R., p.136) and like many, found the trials and tribulations of the past year difficult, to say the least. For those with substance abuse issues, the road to rehabilitation and sobriety is rarely a straight smooth road. And while Mr. Briggs has had a few rough patches in his years to recovery, he has had very good stretches of success on probation. In light of these facts, Mr. Briggs maintains the district court did not exercise reason and therefore abused its discretion by revoking his probation because it was achieving its rehabilitative objective. The district court should have reinstated his probation.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Briggs respectfully requests that this Court vacate the order revoking his probation and remand his case to the district court for him to be returned to probation. Alternatively, he requests that his case be remanded to the district court for a new probation violation disposition hearing.