Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

3-4-2021

### State v. Briggs Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48210

A. Introduction

Probation and parole officers conducted a residence check on Briggs. (PSI, p.4.) Briggs was agitated and upset with the home visit. (PSI, p.4.) He provided a saliva sample, which tested positive for methamphetamine. (PSI, p.4.) During a search of the residence, officers found a small

plastic envelope containing a crystal substance which tested positive for methamphetamine. (PSI, pp.4, 84.)

The state charged Briggs with possession of methamphetamine. (R., pp.24-25.) Briggs pleaded guilty. (See R., pp.28-34.) The district court sentenced Briggs to seven years with two years fixed and retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.39-41.) Following the completion of his rider, the district court suspended Briggs' sentence and placed him on probation. (R., pp.44-47.)

The state moved for a probation violation, alleging Briggs violated the terms of his probation by committing a new crime of misdemeanor battery, consuming alcohol on two occasions, and entering an establishment where alcohol is the primary source of income. (R., pp.66-70, 102-03.) Briggs admitted to one allegation that he violated the terms of his probation and the state dismissed the remaining allegations. The district court reinstated Briggs' probation. (R., pp.105-07.)

The state moved for a second probation violation, alleging Briggs failed to maintain employment by losing his job due to alcohol use, consumed alcohol on three separate occasions, and failed to submit to required alcohol testing. (R., pp.122-28.) Briggs admitted to violating his probation by consuming alcohol on three separate occasions and the state dismissed the remaining allegations. (See R., pp.143-44; see also Tr., p.9, L.8 – p.11, L.2.) The district court revoked Briggs' probation and imposed his underlying sentence. (R., pp.145-47; Tr., p.26, Ls.11-14.) Briggs filed a timely notice of appeal. (Aug., pp.1-2.)

#### B. Standard Of Review

In reviewing the district court's decision to revoke probation, the Court employs "a two-step analysis." State v. Sanchez, 149 Idaho 102, 105, 233 P.3d 33, 36 (2009) (citation omitted). First, the appellate court determines "whether the defendant violated the terms of his probation."

Id. If the appellate court determines “that the defendant has in fact violated the terms of his probation, the second question is what should be the consequences of that violation.” Id.

The decision to revoke probation is within the sound discretion of the court. State v. Le Veque, 164 Idaho 110, 113, 426 P.3d 461, 464 (2018). “A district court’s decision to revoke probation will not be overturned on appeal absent a showing that the court abused its discretion.” Sanchez, 149 Idaho at 105, 233 P.3d at 36 (citation omitted). When a trial court’s discretionary decision is reviewed on appeal, the appellate court conducts a multi-tiered inquiry to determine whether the lower court: (1) perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the boundaries of such discretion; (3) acted consistently with any legal standards applicable to the specific choices before it; and (4) reached its decision by an exercise of reason. State v. Herrera, 164 Idaho 261, 270, 429 P.3d 149, 158 (2018).

C. Briggs Has Failed To Show That The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Revoked His Probation

On appeal, Briggs does not dispute that he violated the terms of his probation; he challenges only the district court’s discretionary decision to revoke probation. (See Appellant’s brief, p.3.) When reviewing the propriety of a probation revocation, the focus of the inquiry is the conduct underlying the trial court’s decision to revoke probation. State v. Morgan, 153 Idaho 618, 621, 288 P.3d 835, 838 (Ct. App. 2012). “In determining whether to revoke probation a court must consider whether probation is meeting the objective of rehabilitation while also providing adequate protection for society.” State v. Upton, 127 Idaho 274, 275, 899 P.2d 984, 985 (Ct. App. 1995) (citation omitted). If the court reasonably concludes from the defendant’s conduct that probation is not achieving its rehabilitative purpose, then probation may be revoked. See State v. Mummert, 98 Idaho 452, 454-55, 566 P.2d 1110, 1112-13 (1977).

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it revoked Briggs' probation and imposed the underlying sentence. Briggs has demonstrated that he poses a risk to society. As his criminal history illustrates, Briggs has substance abuse and anger issues; he has three prior DUIs, one of which was a felony, as well as felony convictions for aggravated assault and attempted strangulation. (PSI, pp.7-8.) Further, his criminal history shows a pattern of failing to comply with court orders; he has misdemeanor convictions for driving without privileges, carrying a concealed weapon without a license, contempt of court, and resisting or obstructing officers, as well as four prior probation violations across his other cases. (PSI, pp.5-8.) While incarcerated, Briggs received a disciplinary report and was placed in administrative segregation several times due to gang affiliation and his potential threat to other inmates. (PSI, p.9.) While in jail, Briggs received at disciplinary sanction for reckless endangerment of others related to his role as a lookout during an aggravated battery. (PSI, p.9.)

Further, Briggs has not taken advantage of his rehabilitative opportunities. Briggs completed a rider in another case prior to his rider in this case. (PSI, p.9.) Briggs completed numerous programs related to anger management and substance abuse during incarceration, his rider, and in the community. (PSI, pp.9, 14; Conf. Ex., pp.18-19.) Nonetheless, Briggs' performance on probation indicates that he is not yet willing or able to comply with its terms. After his release, Briggs provided inaccurate addresses and contact information to probation, failed to make contact with probation for over a month, and instead began drinking upon his release. (See Conf. Ex., pp.7-9.) Briggs moved without providing notice or his new address to his probation officer. (Conf. Ex., pp.12-13.) During a visit, Briggs had a black eye and cut lip and admitting to getting into a physical altercation. (Conf. Ex., p.13.)

The conduct underlying the probation violations demonstrates that Briggs is in need of treatment in a controlled setting to protect society and enable him to succeed in the community. On one occasion, Briggs was stopped by law enforcement on the greenbelt, where he was very intoxicated and harassing women. (Conf. Ex., p.14.) Thereafter, he was given a SCRAM device and tested positive for alcohol; Briggs indicated he had been drinking for the last two days. (Conf. Ex., p.14.) On another occasion during a home visit, Briggs was highly intoxicated. (Conf. Ex., p.15.) He did not have his SCRAM device on him. (Conf. Ex., p.15.) He admitted he lost his job due to drinking but then blamed it on “jews.” (Conf. Ex., p.15.) Briggs admitted to drinking around twenty shots of vodka a day. (Conf. Ex., p.15.) Briggs stated that days earlier he had gone to a restaurant and “had to teach some guys to fight.” (Conf. Ex., p.15.) The probation officer spoke to the manager at the restaurant who said that Briggs and his friends arrived highly intoxicated to the restaurant, which was full of families. (Conf. Ex., p.16.) A fight started over a female and Briggs used racial slurs towards the Hispanic victims involved. (Conf. Ex., p.16.) Briggs threw punches and even tried to kick the manager; it took ten to fifteen officers to get things under control, although no charges were ultimately filed. (Conf. Ex., p.16.)

The district court properly “considered the Toohill factors and the nature of the offense; the character of the offender; any mitigating or aggravating factors; fulfilling the objectives of protecting society and achieving deterrence, rehabilitation or retribution” as well as “the criteria for sentencing under Idaho Code [§] 19-2521.” (Tr., p.25, Ls.17-23.) The district court found that Briggs was “not amenable to supervision at this time based on the fact that [he] ha[d] not abstained from alcohol, [he] ha[d] not completed the requisite treatment and [was] noncompliant when the probation officer tried the SCRAM device.” (Tr., p.26, Ls.5-10.) The district court acknowledged Briggs’ substance abuse issue and expressed concern that the sheer amount of alcohol Briggs was

consuming on a regular basis was of such a high level that it would prevent him from being able to maintain employment and could lead to additional criminal activity. (Tr., p.26, L.19 – p.27, L.1.) The district court found that Briggs posed a risk to the community and that programming in a controlled environment would better address his substance abuse issues and prepare him to successfully manage triggers and continue treatment upon his release. (Tr., p.27, Ls.5-11.) In light of his continued excessive alcohol use and violent behavior, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it revoked Briggs' probation and imposed the underlying sentence.

Briggs argues that the district court failed to exercise reason when it revoked his probation, because probation was achieving its rehabilitative purpose. (Appellant's brief, pp.3-5.) Briggs notes that he successfully completed his rider and took responsibility for his probation violations. (Appellant's brief, pp.4-5.) As discussed above, the district court considered Briggs' performance on probation, including his conduct underlying the probation violations. In light of his past opportunities for programming and treatment and his continued alcohol use and violence in the community, the district court reasonably concluded that probation was not achieving its rehabilitative purpose. Briggs has failed to show that the district court abused its discretion when it revoked his probation.

#### CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court.